

University of Kentucky UKnowledge

University of Kentucky Master's Theses

**Graduate School** 

2010

# IGF-I RELEASING PLGA SCAFFOLDS FOR GROWTH PLATE REGENERATION

Sharath kumar Chinnakavanam Sundararaj University of Kentucky, sharath.sundararaj@uky.edu

Right click to open a feedback form in a new tab to let us know how this document benefits you.

#### **Recommended Citation**

Chinnakavanam Sundararaj, Sharath kumar, "IGF-I RELEASING PLGA SCAFFOLDS FOR GROWTH PLATE REGENERATION" (2010). *University of Kentucky Master's Theses*. 59. https://uknowledge.uky.edu/gradschool\_theses/59

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School at UKnowledge. It has been accepted for inclusion in University of Kentucky Master's Theses by an authorized administrator of UKnowledge. For more information, please contact UKnowledge@lsv.uky.edu.



# ABSTRACT OF THESIS

## IGF-I RELEASING PLGA SCAFFOLDS FOR GROWTH PLATE REGENERATION

Growth plate is a highly organized cartilaginous tissue found at the end of long bones and is responsible for longitudinal growth of the bones. Growth plate fracture leads to retarded growth and unequal limb length, which might have a lifelong effect on a person's physical stature. This research is a tissue engineering approach for the treatment of growth plate injury. Insulin-like growth factor I (IGF-I), which can stimulate cartilage formation, was encapsulated within PLGA microspheres that were then used to form porous scaffolds. The release profile of the IGF-I from the PLGA scaffold showed a biphasic release pattern. In vitro studies were done by seeding rat bone marrow cells (BMCs) on the top of IGF-I encapsulated PLGA scaffolds, and the results showed an increase in cell multiplication and glycosaminoglycan content. The final in vivo studies were conducted by creating growth plate injury and implanting scaffolds in the tibiae of the New-Zealand white rabbits. Histological analysis of tissue sections showed regeneration of cartilage, albeit with disorganized structure, at the site of implantation of IGF-I encapsulated scaffolds. This work will be a significant step towards tissue engineering of growth plate cartilage.

KEYWORDS: PLGA, Tissue engineering, growth plate, drug delivery and IGF-I

Sharath kumar C. Sundararaj May 5<sup>th</sup> 2010



# **IGF-I RELEASING PLGA SCAFFOLDS FOR GROWTH PLATE REGENERATION**

By Sharath kumar Chinnakavanam Sundararaj

> David A. Puleo Director of Thesis Abhijit Patwardha Director of Graduate Studies May 5<sup>th</sup> 2010



#### RULES FOR USE OF THESIS

Unpublished theses submitted for the Master's degree and deposited in the University of Kentucky Library are as a rule open for inspection, but are to be used only with due regard to the rights of the authors. Bibliographical references may be noted, but quotations or summaries of parts may be

published only with the permission of the author, and with the usual scholarly acknowledgments.

Extensive copying or publication of the thesis in whole or in part also requires the consent of the Dean of the Graduate School of the University of Kentucky.

A library that borrows this thesis for use by its patrons is expected to secure the signature of each user.

Name	Date



# THESIS

Sharath kumar Chinnakavanam Sundararaj

The Graduate School

University of Kentucky

2010



www.manaraa.com

# IGF-I RELEASING PLGA SCAFFOLDS FOR GROWTH PLATE REGENERATION

THESIS

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Biomedical Engineering in the Graduate school at the University of Kentucky

> By Sharath kumar Chinnakavanam Sundararaj Lexington, Kentucky

Director: Dr. David A. Puleo, Professor of Biomedical Engineering Lexington, Kentucky 2010

Copright <sup>©</sup> Sharath kumar Chinnakavanam Sundararaj



#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to first thank my advisor Dr. David Puleo for accepting me in this program and giving me the opportunity to be a part of this research. His support and guidance was invaluable in the progress of this research. I would also like to thank my committee members Dr. Milbrandt and Dr. Hilt, whose expertise was instrumental in this multidisciplinary research.

It was a great experience working with my fellow lab mates Nirmal Ravi and Amanda Clark, who were very helpful and made useful contributions in this research. I am also thankful to Dr. Ryan Cipley for his help with analysis of radiographic images and Linda Simmerman for her help in histological imaging. Finally I want to thank my family and friends for their support and encouragement in all my endeavors.



# TABLE OF CONTENTS

KNOLEDGEMENTS	iii
ST OF TABLES	vii
ST OF FIGURES	viii
NTRODUCTION	1
ACKGROUND AND SIGNIFICANCE	3
2.1 Growth plate fracture and treatments	3
2.2 Insulin-like Growth Factor – I (IGF-I)	4
2.3 Poly (lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA) for drug de	livery and tissue
engineering	5
2.4 Microencapsulation and controlled release	of growth
factors	7
2.5 Significance	9
ATERIALS AND METHODS	10
3.1 IGF-I	
3.1.1 Fluorescent labeling of IGF-I	10
3.2 PLGA	10
3.2.1 Microencapsulation of IGF-I with PLGA microspl	heres10
3.2.2 Fabrication of scaffolds	11
3.2.3 Adsorption of protein on scaffolds	11
3.3 In vitro studies	11
3.3.1 Release studies	11
3.3.2 Mass loss studies	12
3.3.3 Seeding of cells on scaffolds	12
3.3.4 Confocal imaging cell seeded scaffolds	13
3.3.5 Glycosamino glycan (GAG) assay and DNA assay	y of cells seeded on
scaffolds	13
3.4 In vivo studies	14
3.4.1 Animal surgery for scaffold implantation	14
3.4.2 Radiographic imaging for bone angle measurement	nt16
3.5 Histology	17



3.5.1 Decalcification and sectioning of tissue	17
3.5.2 Staining of tissues	
4 RESULTS	19
4.1 Release profiles	19
4.1.1 Lysozyme encapsulated PLGA scaffolds	
4.1.2 Lysozyme adsorbed PLGA scaffolds	20
4.1.3 IGF-I encapsulated PLGA scaffolds	23
4.1.4 IGF-I encapsulated PLGA scaffolds in cell culture med	lium25
4.2 Mass loss studies	
4.2.1 Mass loss profile of PLGA scaffolds	
4.3 Cell seeding on IGF-I encapsulated scaffolds	
4.3.1 Confocal images of the cells seeded on the scaffolds	30
4.3.2 GAG assay and DNA assay	34
4.4 Animal study	
4.4.1 Angle measurements from the radiographic images	
4.5 Histology	
4.5.1 Images from the H&E staining	
4.5.2 Images from saffronin O staining	44
5 DISCUSSION	48
5.1 Release of protein from PLGA scaffold	48
5.1.1 Release profile of protein encapsulated scaffolds	degraded in
PBS	48
5.1.2 Release profile of protein adsorbed and protein	encapsulated
scaffolds	49
5.1.3 Release profile of protein encapsulated scaffolds de	graded in cell
culture medium	50
5.1.4 Release profile of protein encapsulated scaffolds de	graded in cell
culture medium along with macrophages	50
5.2 Degradation of PLGA scaffolds	51
5.2.1 Mass loss of scaffolds degraded in PBS	51



5.2.2 Mass loss of scaffolds degraded in cell culture medium	51
5.3 In vitro cell studies	52
5.3.1 Seeding the cells with fibrin glue	52
5.3.2 Confocal imaging of BMC-seeded scaffolds	52
5.3.3 Analysis of GAG content from the BMCs	53
5.4 In vivo studies	54
5.4.1 Scaffold used in the animal surgery	54
5.4.2 Radiographic images	54
5.4.3 Histology	55
6. CONCLUSION	57
REFERENCES	58
VITA	62



# LIST OF TABLES



# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 3.4.1.1: Incision made in the anterior side of the tibia to expose the intact growth plate
Figure 3.4.1.2: Removal of the medial half of the tibial growth plate15
Figure 3.4.1.3: Implantation of the scaffold after removal of bone bar16
Figure 3.4.2.1: Angle measurement from radiographic images17
Figure 4.1.1a: Release profile of lysozyme encapsulated PLGA scaffolds degraded in PBS
Figure 4.1.1b: Cumulative lysozyme release from PLGA scaffolds degraded in PBS
Figures 4.1.2a: Comparison of release profiles from scaffolds adsorbed with lysozyme for 1 hour and 24 hours and degraded in PBS
Figures 4.1.2b: Comparison of cumulative releases from scaffolds adsorbed with lysozyme for 1 hour and 24 hours and degraded in PBS21
Figure 4.1.2c: Comparison of lysozyme released from encapsulated and adsorbed (for 24 hours) scaffolds
Figure 4.1.2d: Comparison of cumulative release of lysozyme from encapsulated and adsorbed scaffolds
Figure 4.1.3a: Release profile of IGF-I encapsulated PLGA scaffolds24
Figure 4.1.3b: Cumulative IGF-I release from PLGA scaffolds24
Figure 4.1.4a: Comparison between the release of IGF-I from IGF-I-encapsulated scaffolds degraded in PBS and cell culture medium
Figure 4.1.4b: Comparison of the release profile of IGF-I from the scaffolds degraded in PBS, cell culture medium and cell culture medium with macrophages
Figure 4.1.4c: Comparison of the cumulative release of IGF-I from the scaffolds degraded in PBS, cell culture medium and cell culture medium with macrophages27
Figure 4.2.1.1: Porous PLGA scaffolds degraded in cell culture medium at various time points



Figure 4.2.1.2 : The comparison of the mass loss profile of the porous PLGA scaffold in PBS and cell culture medium
Figure 4.2.1.3: Scaffolds degraded in PBS, cell culture medium and cell culture medium with macrophages at day 20
Figure 4.3.1.1: Confocal image of BMCs on a blank scaffold after three weeks
Figure 4.3.1.2: Confocal image of BMCs on a blank scaffold after three weeks of culture with IGF-I added externally
Figure 4.3.1.3: Confocal image of BMCs on an IGF-I encapsulated scaffold after three weeks
Figure 4.3.2.1: Concentration of the GAG, measured from BMCs cultured on PLGA scaffolds for three weeks
Figure 4.3.2.2: Concentration of the GAG, measured from BMCs cultured on PLGA scaffolds for four weeks
Figure 4.3.2.3: Amount of DNA from BMCs cultured on PLGA scaffolds for three weeks
Figure 4.3.2.4: Amount of DNA from BMCs cultured on PLGA scaffolds for four weeks
Figure 4.3.2.5: Normalized GAG content of BMCs cultured on PLGA scaffolds for three weeks
Figure 4.3.2.6: Normalized GAG content of BMCs cultured on PLGA scaffolds for four weeks
Figure 4.4.1.1: Comparison of LDFA during various stages of the study
Figure 4.4.1.2: Comparison of MPTA during various stages of the study
Figure 4.5.1.1: H&E stained coronal section of rabbit proximal tibia (control - without scaffold implantation) at the end of the study
Figure 4.5.1.2: H&E stained coronal section of rabbit proximal tibia (with blank scaffold) at t.he end of the study
Figure 4.5.1.3: H&E stained coronal section of rabbit proximal tibia (with IGF-I encapsulated scaffold) at the end of the study 42





#### 1. INTRODUCTION

Growth plate is an area of developing cartilaginous tissue found in the end of the bones. The chondrocytes present in the growth plate undergo division by mitosis along with matrix synthesis aid in the elongation of the bone. The growth plate ossifies or hardens after a certain age and determines the length and shape of the mature bone.

Growth plate injury is a type of injury or fracture that occurs at the physis region of the bone where the growth plate is present. Growth plate injuries are seen more commonly in boys and girls at the end of their growth period and young adulthood, whose growth plate has not matured and ossified in to bone. Damage in the growth plate results in retarded growth and unequal limb length.

Usually the damaged cartilage in the body is replaced by fibrous cartilage, which does not possess the same properties of the hyaline cartilage and will not be able to perform the necessary functions. If an injury occurs at the growth plate region, the cartilage does not get regenerated or replaced by fibrous cartilage as observed in the usual case but it is replaced by bone. The process of formation of a bone bar to replace the damaged cartilage makes the condition worse and increases the immediate need for a better treatment option. There is no current treatment that regenerates the injured growth plate and its functions completely.

Tissue engineering of articular cartilage is a treatment option that is growing in popularity. Promising preclinical animal models and clinical pilot studies have encouraged further research in this field. Most of the tissue engineering approaches involve the harvesting of cells from the donor and replenishing them in the damaged or the injured site for healing and regeneration. One of the major drawbacks with this method is the removal of cells from a healthy site of the donor's body. Some growth factors are also required for the in vitro culture of these cells. The expanded culture is associated with a scaffold for the delivery of the cells to the injured site. The other method of tissue engineering involves the direct loading of growth factors in the scaffolds for delivery in to the treatment site for tissue regeneration. This method avoids the removal of healthy tissues or cells from the patient and eliminates the need for more than one surgery. A



biodegradable scaffold is preferred for this delivery purpose in both the cases because of its ability to be easily removed from the treatment site as the tissue starts to regenerate.

This research focused on the tissue engineering of the growth plate by the delivering the growth factor insulin-like growth factor I (IGF-I). The biodegradable poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA) polymer served as the vehicle for the delivery of growth factors and also provided support to the fractured portion of the bone during the initial stages of recovery. In this case the IGF-I was microencapsulated in PLGA and made in the form of porous scaffold for delivery of the growth factor (IGF-I). PLGA is one of the most widely used polymers for drug delivery and tissue engineering. PLGA is biocompatible in nature and it is easier to achieve desirable release kinetics. These factors make PLGA a practical choice for the current purpose.

Tissue engineering of cartilage is gaining heavy importance in the field of tissue engineering. But most of the research till now is mainly focused on the regeneration of articular cartilage and very little progress has been made in tissue engineering of growth plate. This work was aimed at providing a significant contribution towards tissue engineering of growth plate. We hypothesized that microencapsulation of IGF-I in PLGA would be an appropriate growth factor delivery system for regeneration of growth plate cartilage both in vitro and in vivo.

Copright <sup>©</sup> Sharath kumar Chinnakavanam Sundararaj



#### 2. BACKGROUND AND SIGNIFICANCE

#### 2.1 Growth plate injury and treatments

The growth plate is the hyaline cartilage present in the metaphysis at the end of the long bones. Growth plate cartilage consists of chondrocytes and the extracellular matrix which the chondrocyte produces and reside in [1]. Growth plate can be further represented as a highly organized structure mainly consisting of chondrocytes at different stages of proliferation and differentiation in a scaffold of oriented extracellular matrix components consisting of collagen proteoglycans and proteoglycans aggregates [2]. Based on the differentiation of the chondrocytes the growth plate is divided in to three distinct zones, reserve, proliferative and hypertropic zones [3]. In some literature the proliferative zone and hypertropic zones are further subdivided in to upper and lower parts to form five zones [4]. The longitudinal growth of the long bones and vertebrae occurs in the growth plate. Growth plate is the most fragile region of the long bone and is susceptible to injuries. Injury or damage to the growth plate is called as the epiphyseal fracture or growth plate fracture [5, 6]. The growth plate fractures account for approximately 15 - 20 % of the long bone fractures in children. Growth plate does not have the ability to regenerate on its own after an injury. The damage to the growth plate cartilage usually leads to the formation of the osseous bridge at the site of injury. Partial damage to the growth plate results in the shortening and progressive angular deformation of the bone, while more severe damage to the growth plate results in complete arrest of the longitudinal bone growth [6-8].

There have been several attempts made to prevent the partial growth plate closure and induce the regeneration of growth plate. To prevent the closure of the growth plate, the osseous bridge is surgically removed and replaced with an inert material. A variety of natural and synthetic materials have been tried for this purpose, some of them include bone wax, beeswax, methyl methacrylate, siliconized Dacron, silicone rubber, grafts of fat and cartilage. All of these materials were able to provide only limited protection against bone re-growth, while fat and cartilage were found to be relatively better options [7]. For regeneration of growth plate the transplantation of the cartilage from other sites of the body have been tried. These methods involving the transplantation have resulted in only temporary graft survival. The treatment methods which are being practiced now have relatively small number of satisfactory results [7].



Research involving tissue engineering and gene therapy for the regeneration of the growth plate cartilage is gaining rapid importance. Use of growth factors capable of signaling molecules that control mitogenic behavior and cell differentiation is also being widely studied [8].

## 2.2 Insulin-like growth factor I (IGF-I)

IGF-I is a polypeptide endocrine hormone with the ability to stimulate cartilage growth. IGF-I has a molecular weight of 7600 Daltons and it is synthesized by the cartilage and stored within the ECM of the cartilage [9],[10]. IGFs can be found in the organic skeletal matrix and circulation, with serum containing significant concentrations of both IGF-I and IGF-II [11]. There are several evidences in the literature supporting the role of IGF-I in skeletal growth and development through classic endocrine and autocrine or paracrine mechanisms [12]. It has been proved that IGF-I has the ability to stimulate mitotic activity and matrix synthesis in growth plate chondrocytes in primary monolayer cultures, which proves the general anabolic role of IGF-I in growth plate development [8, 12]. The IGF-I receptors present in the growth plate chondrocytes are stimulated by IGF-I with respect to mitosis and expression of differentiation properties of the chondrocytes [12]. In a study by Tripple et al., it was proved that IGF-I purified from human serum showed the ability to bind to IGF-I receptors on bovine growth plate chondrocytes [13].

IGF-I stimulates growth plate activity by inducing the process of cell proliferation, matrix production and hypertrophy [14]. Along with general enhancement of mitotic activity of chondrocytes, IGF-I has the capability of stimulating chondrocytes at all stages of differentiation [8, 12]. Despite the ability of IGF-I to stimulate chondrocytes at all stages of differentiation, the degree of its effect varies with respect to the cell activity [14]. Proliferative zone cells of the growth plate show a better response to IGF-I when compared to the cells present in the reserve zone, due to the greater IGF-I binding capacity of the proliferative zone cells than resting zone cells. These studies further confirm that the effect of IGF-I on cell population of the growth plate is dependent on the cell population's stage of maturational development [15].

IGF-I not only has an effect on chondrocytes at various developmental states, it also shows positive effect on the stem cells by influencing chondrocyte differentiation. Hunziker et al. have shown the ability of IGF-I to stimulate stem cells towards chondrogenic differentiation [14].



Ability of IGF-I to stimulate mitotic activity and differentiation of growth plate chondrocytes have been proved in vitro along with its ability to enhance longitudinal growth in vivo [12].

These effects, such as mitosis and differentiation of the growth plate chondrocytes, were generated by nanomolar concentration of IGF-I in vitro, a range that is consistent with a physiological role in vivo [15]. IGF-I not only plays a regulatory role in cartilage and bone formation, but is also important in regulating bone fracture repair [6]. There are many other research studies from the literature showing the importance of IGF-I in cartilage development. Despite these findings, systemic administration IGF-I has shown only marginal effects on the development of cartilage [9]. The main reason for the failure in the use of IGF-I systemically is due to the inability of these peptides to reach the target area in a fully bioactive and functional state. IGF-I is a short lived cytokine which requires a proper delivery system to transport it to the desired anatomical site [8]. The fate of the tissue is mainly determined by the local IGF-I activity [11], which creates the need for the local delivery of the IGF-I for desired effect.

## 2.3 PLGA for drug delivery and tissue engineering

Properties such as good biocompatibility, biodegradability, desirable mechanical strength along with the ability to act as carriers for various classes of drugs, such as vaccines, peptides and proteins, has generated immense interest in PLGA for the purpose of drug delivery and tissue engineering. The drug carried by PLGA is released by diffusion through water filled network of pores or by erosion of the polymer material or by combination of both [16, 17]. The PLGA undergoes hydrolytic degradation (both in vivo and in vitro) by cleavage of its backbone ester linkages. PLGA polymer biodegrades into its monomers lactic acid and glycolic acid. These byproducts are biocompatible, toxicologically safe and are eliminated by normal metabolic pathways. Lactic acid produced enters the tricarboxylic acid cycle and is eliminated as carbon dioxide and water. Glycolic acid is excreted unchanged in the kidney or it also enters the tricarboxylic acid cycle and eliminated as carbon dioxide and water [16].

The properties of the PLGA used to encapsulate the drug play an important role in determining the rate of degradation of the polymer, which ultimately decides the release kinetics. Some of the factors on which the rate of degradation of the PLGA polymer depends include copolymer



composition (ratio of lactic acid and glycolic acid), polymer chemistry (PLGA with acid end group or aliphatic end group) and crystallinity of the polymer. All these factors control the amount of water that is accessible to the ester linkages and thus control the rate of degradation [16, 17]. Tracy et al. showed that degradation of the PLGA was more dependent on the chemistry of the polymer end group than on the molecular weight [18]. The acid-ended PLGA polymer degrades faster both in vivo (3-4 fold faster) and in vitro (2-3 fold faster) when compared to the aliphatic ended PLGA polymer. The faster degradation of acid-ended PLGA is due to its ability to take up water at a faster rate. The acidic end groups released by degradation decreases the pH further catalyzing the hydrolysis of ester bonds resulting in the autocatalytic cycle. Studies done by Tracy et al. also showed that encapsulation of a protein with PLGA microspheres did not have any significant effect on the rate of degradation [18].

The rate of degradation of PLGA is also determined by the medium in which the polymer dissolves. Faisant et al. showed that the rate of PLGA polymer degradation depends on the pH and temperature of the medium in which it degrades [19]. The rate of degradation increases with the decrease in the pH. Thus the increase in the degradation products (higher content of carboxylic acid end groups) creates acidic conditions (decrease in pH) and further accelerates degradation in an autocatalytic manner. This is also the reason behind the faster degradation of larger PLGA devices when compared to the smaller devices. In larger PLGA devices the degradation takes place heterogeneously and faster in the center. This is due to the accumulation of degradation byproducts, which decreases the pH at the center of the device when compared to the surface. PLGA polymer also shows increased degradation rate at pH of 9. The pH range from 3 to neutral shows the slowest degradation rate [20], this may be because of the increased degradation products saturating the medium slowing down further degradation. Studies conducted by Tracy et al. showed that the PLGA dissolved 1.7-2.6 times faster in vivo when compared to in vitro. They also proved that irrespective of the molecular weight or the end group, degradation of PLGA occurred faster in vivo. The reason for the faster degradation in vivo might be because of the foreign body response and accumulation of cells, like macrophages, or because of the lipids or other biological compounds present in the in vivo condition that act as plasticizers aiding the uptake of water in to the polymer [18, 21]. Other factors which might affect the rate of degradation include the size, shape and porosity of the PLGA device [18].



6

Studies done by Klose et al. showed that the change in the shape of the PLGA device with microparticles had a significant effect on the relative release rate of the drug. Their studies also confirmed that the type of drug did not significantly affect the degradation kinetics of the polymer [22].

In this research, acid-ended PLGA polymer containing 50:50 ratio of lactic acid and glycolic acid was used. The glass transition temperature for this PLGA copolymer is 42°C which makes it glassy in nature. The glassy nature gives the polymer a fairly rigid chain structure, making it mechanically strong enough to be used as drug delivery devices [16]. The physiochemical and biological properties of the PLGA polymer are also suitable for fabricating sustained drug delivery system capable drug release from days to months [23]. PLGA is also Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approved and is being used for various clinical purposes [16]. Some of the PLGA devices used for protein release available in the market are Lupron Depot®, Sandostatin LAR® Depot, Nutropine Depot® and Zoladex® [24].

## 2.4 Microencapsulation and controlled release of proteins

Literature shows that a variety of proteins have been encapsulated in polymeric materials for drug delivery purposes. PLGA is one of the most commonly used biodegradable polymer for encapsulating proteins for drug delivery [16]. These various proteins encapsulated in PLGA possess different physiochemical properties. The proteins with different molecular weight, solubility, distribution coefficient and therapeutic functions interact in a different way with the PLGA polymer [17]. So according to the type of protein their stability and bioactivity differs when encapsulated with the PLGA polymer. The microencapsulation technique selected is based on the type of drug, properties of the polymer, intended use and the duration of the therapy. The technique used to microencapsulate a drug with the polymer must be able to protect the stability and bioactivity of the drug, must yield microspheres of required size range, produce microspheres in a free that does not aggregate or adhere to each other [16].

The other important factor that must be taken into consideration for designing a drug delivery devise is the release kinetics of the drug. Drug release kinetics are mainly governed by the



polymer properties, fabrication method and the percentage of drug loaded [25]. The double emulsion method (water/oil/water method) is considered as the most suitable method for microencapsulation of water soluble drugs like proteins, peptides and vaccines [16]. In the water/oil/water method (w/o/w), aqueous solution of protein or drug is mixed with a organic phase containing PLGA dissolved in dichloromethane to form the w/o emulsion. The emulsion formed is again mixed with water containing polyvinyl alcohol (PVA) to form the w/o/w emulsion. The whole solution is stirred in atmospheric pressure to remove the dichloromethane by evaporation. The drug loaded microspheres obtained by this process are washed, lyophilized and sieved [16]. Cohen et al. showed that the exposure of the proteins to the dichloromethane during the process of microencapsulation or the process of freeze drying did not have any significant effect on the enzymatic activity or the solubility of the protein. Their research also showed that the encapsulation of the protein with PLGA in the form of microspheres enabled it to retain activity for a prolonged period of time. The protein not encapsulated in the microspheres lost 80% of its activity in a solution at 37 °C when compared to the ability of the protein to retain more than 55% of its activity when encapsulated in PLGA and incubated at 37 °C for 21 days [25].

The processing conditions employed during the preparation of microspheres have a direct effect on the microsphere properties such as the size, morphology, porosity, encapsulation efficiency and drug distribution. These microsphere properties ultimately decide the release kinetics of the protein loaded in the polymer [17]. Studies show that the changes made in the procedure during microsphere preparation such as the mixing rate or the volume of the inner water phase or the organic phase will have an effect on the release profile of the drug encapsulated within the polymer microsphere [25]. IGF-I has been successfully encapsulated with PLGA for therapeutic purposes. Microencapsulation of IGF-I in PLGA not only maintains the bioactivity and stability of IGF-I, it also mediates controlled release of the protein [26].



## 2.5 Significance

Currently there is no treatment available for growth plate injury, which leads to complete healing or regeneration of the damaged growth plate. Growth plate injury in children leads to retarded growth or complete arrest of the growth in long bones. The growth plate injury, if not treated properly, might have a lifelong effect on a person's physical stature. The treatment methods that are employed at present are mostly aimed to replace the growth plate cartilage with an inert material. These methods only avoid the formation of bone bridge, but they do not help in regeneration of growth plate cartilage and its functions.

The PLGA used for microencapsulation of IGF-I is FDA approved and has been used for drug delivery purposes. Studies have also proved that there is no adverse effect on the bioactivity of IGF-I during the process (double emulsion method) of microencapsulation with PLGA. The ease in processing of these IGF-I encapsulated microspheres also makes this method an appropriate choice for this growth factor delivering device. The PLGA scaffold which carries the IGF-I also provides mechanical support to the damaged part of the bone after removal of bone bridge. IGF-I has been proved to have positive effect on growth plate chondrocytes and growth plate development as a whole. The practical difficulty in the use of IGF-I is due to its short biological half life. Encapsulation of IGF-I with PLGA protects the bioactivity and stability of IGF-I. Thus this drug encapsulation method with PLGA can aid in the regeneration of the growth plate cartilage and will also be an alternative to the materials being currently used to block and prevent the formation of osseous bridge.

This research is aimed to achieve site-specific and controlled delivery of growth factor (IGF-I) using porous PLGA scaffolds for regeneration of growth plate cartilage.

Copright <sup>©</sup> Sharath kumar Chinnakavanam Sundararaj



## **3. MATERIALS AND METHODS**

## 3.1. IGF-I

IGF-I is the growth factor that was used in this research for the regeneration of the growth plate. It was purchased from Peprotech inc. (Rocky Hill, NJ). The protein was available in 1 mg vials in lyophilized form.

# 3.1.1. Fluorescent labeling of IGF-I

IGF-I was labeled using Alexa 488 fluorescent dye (Invitrogen Eugene, OR). IGF-I was dissolved with 0.1 M sodium bicarbonate buffer (pH 8.3) to obtain the protein solution of concentration 3 mg/ml. 1 mg of the Alexa 488 dye was dissolved with 100 µl of dimethylsulfoxide (DMSO). The dye solution obtained was mixed with the protein solution and stirred at room temperature (25°C) for one hour. The solution of protein and dye was transferred to centrifugal filter tubes (Amicon Bioseparation. Bedford,MA) with a molecular weight cut off (MWCO) of 3000 Daltons. The protein dye mixture was centrifuged for 100 minutes at 14,000g and phosphate-buffed saline (PBS) was added to the centrifugal filters for further centrifugation to wash out the excess unbound dye. The BCA Protein Assay (Pierce Chemical Co.. Rockford, IL) was performed to determine the concentration of the labeled protein. Depending on the concentration, the labeled protein was diluted to obtain a desired concentration, which was used as the standard for measuring the amount of protein released during the release studies.

## 3.2. PLGA

PLGA was used to encapsulate the IGF-I for the preparation of the biodegradable scaffolds. PLGA obtained from Durect Corp. (Pelham, AL) was used in this research is a copolymer of lactic acid and glycolic acid with the ratio of 50:50 and carboxylic acid group at the end of the chain. The inherent viscosity of the polymer ranges from 0.15 - 0.25 with the corresponding molecular weight range of 5000 - 6700 Daltons.

# **3.2.1.** Microencapsulation of IGF-I with PLGA microspheres

IGF-I was microencapsulated into hydrophilic PLGA by double emulsion method. 24 gm of polyvinyl alcohol (PVA) (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) was dissolved in 2.4 liters of deionized



(DI) water by mixing it at 600 rpm (rotations per minute). 3.2 gm of PLGA was dissolved in 24.48ml of dichloromethane (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) and 2.72 ml of labeled IGF-I (unlabelled IGF-I for cell studies) of concentration 0.5 gm/ml was added to it to obtain the PLGA-IGF-I solution. PLGA-IGF-I solution was sonicated at 25 watts for ten seconds and added to the PVA solution and homogenized at 3500 rpm for two to three minutes. After homogenization the solution was stirred at 400 rpm for 12 hours, and the microspheres were allowed to settle for three to four hours. The microspheres encapsulated with IGF-I was washed with DI water by centrifugation for three times at 1500 rpm for 10 minutes. The washed microspheres were stored at -80°C and lyophilized. The microspheres were sieved to obtain uniformity in size. Microspheres with the size range of 50-150 microns were used for this research.

## **3.2.2.** Fabrication of scaffolds

The IGF-I encapsulated microspheres were mixed with NaCl (sodium chloride) in the mass ratio of 60(NaCl):40(microspheres). For this research 45 mg of NaCl was mixed with 30 mg of microspheres to make scaffolds with the thickness of 0.2 cm and diameter of 0.6 cm. The mixture was transferred to a die and was compressed using a Carver press by applying a load of two and half tons for two minutes. The discs were "sintered" just above the glass transition temperature of 43°C for 48 hours to fuse the microspheres and were subjected to overnight leaching of salt at room temperature in DI water to create porous scaffolds. The porous scaffolds were lyophilized or air dried to remove the moisture.

## 3.2.3. Adsorption of protein on scaffolds

Blank scaffolds were adsorbed with protein by immersing them in lysozyme (0.5 mg/ml) for varying time periods (one hour and 24 hours) at room temperature.

## 3.3. In vitro studies

## 3.3.1. Release studies

To study the release profile of the fluorescently labeled protein from the PLGA scaffolds, the scaffolds were degraded in PBS (2ml) with a pH of 7.4. The samples were kept in a shaker rotating at 86 rotations per minute (rpm), incubated at 37 °C. The supernatant from the immersed



disc was collected on consecutive days for first one week followed by every three days for the rest of the study (50 day time period). Fluorescence reader (SPECTRA max GEMINI XS; Molecular Devices, Sunnyvale, CA) was used to determine the amount of protein released from the scaffolds. The release studies were first performed with lysozyme as a pilot protein and repeated with the protein of interest, IGF-I. Fluorescent labeling of both IGF-I and lysozyme were done in the same way. To examine the effect of encapsulation of labeled protein in PLGA on the release profile, the release profile of the protein encapsulated scaffold was compared with the release profile of scaffold with labeled protein adsorbed on its surface. The same type of release study was also performed with the protein encapsulated scaffolds degraded in cell culture medium (alpha MEM and DMEMHyclone. Logan, Utah) with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS Hyclone. Logan, Utah). 0.02 % sodium azaide was added to the cell culture medium to prevent contamination during the drug release and mass loss studies. The third type of the release study involved the scaffolds degraded in the cell culture medium (DMEM) along with macrophages seeded on the top of the scaffold. The macrophages (RAW 264.7) were seeded at the density of 2000 cells/scaffold on the top of the sterilized scaffold. The release study was conducted by removing the cell culture medium and replacing it with fresh medium for every 48 hours. When the scaffolds were degraded in the cell culture medium, they were stored in a 5% CO<sub>2</sub> incubator without shaking.

## 3.3.2. Mass loss studies

To study the degradation properties of the porous PLGA scaffolds, mass loss studies were conducted by incubating the scaffolds in PBS (2ml) with a pH of 7.4. The samples were kept in a shaker and incubated at 37 °C. 1 ml of the PBS was replaced with fresh PBS every day for first one week and every three days from day 8 to day 36. Every six days three scaffolds were removed from PBS and lyophilized to determine the mass. Mass of the scaffolds was measured at day 6, 12, 18, 24, 30 and 36. Similar mass loss study was also performed for the discs degraded in cell culture medium incubated in a 5%  $CO_2$  incubator without shaking.

## **3.3.3.** Seeding of cells on the scaffolds

Bone marrow cells (BMCs) were harvested from the femora of Sprague Dawley rats (3 month old male rats) and were seeded on the PLGA scaffolds. The bone marrow cells were seeded at a



seeding density of 20,000,000 cells/ml on top the IGF-1(unlabeled) encapsulated scaffolds. The control groups included BMCs seeded on blank PLGA scaffolds and BMCs seeded on blank scaffolds with the addition of soluble IGF-1 (250 ng/ml). To prevent the cells from flowing out of the scaffolds and into the medium, 7.5µl of cells were mixed with of 7.5µl fibrinogen (20 mg/ml in 0.9% saline) (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO), and 15µl of the cell-fibrinogen mixture was seeded on top of the scaffold. After 30 minutes, 15µl of thrombin (50 U of thrombin/ 1ml of 40 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>) (Sigma-Aldrich,) were added to form a clot of the cells on/within the scaffold. The cell culture medium was replaced every two days, with the replenishment of IGF-1 in the soluble growth factor controls.

## 3.3.4 Confocal imaging cell seeded scaffolds

Leica TSP SP5 laser scanning Confocal microscope was used to obtain the images of the cells at various depths of the scaffold. Three weeks after seeding the BMC's on top of the scaffold, the cells were labeled with a fluorescent intracellular probe (Cell Tracker<sup>TM</sup> Green CMFDA (5-chloromethyl fluorescein diacetate)Molecular Probes<sup>TM</sup>. Eugene ,OR). 20 images were obtained at various depths of each blank scaffold, blank scaffold with IGF-I added externally and IGF-I encapsulated scaffold.

## 3.3.5 GAG assay and DNA assay of cells seeded on scaffolds

The GAG and DNA assays were performed at 3 week and 4 week time periods after the seeding of the BMCs on the scaffolds. Scaffolds were transferred to centrifuge tubes, and 1 ml of cold sterile PBS was added to them. The scaffolds were then subjected to freezing and thawing cycles for three times. The scaffolds were sonicated for 30-40 seconds at 25 watts after the completion of three freezing and thawing cycles. The GAG assay was performed using a commercial GAG assay kit (Blyscan, Sulfated Glycosaminoglycan assay Bicolor Ltd. N.Ireland) to determine the total amount of GAG content produced by the cells present in the scaffolds. Chondroidin sulphate was used to obtain the standard curve for the GAG assays. The Pico Green DNA Assay (Invitrogen) was performed to obtain the amount of DNA from the cells present in the scaffold. The DNA content from each scaffold was used to standardize the amount of GAG produced in each scaffold.



## 3.4. In vivo studies

#### 3.4.1. Animal surgery for scaffold implantation

For in vivo studies, animal surgeries were performed on New Zealand white rabbits which were six to eight weeks old. The porous scaffolds used for animal implantation were of different dimension when compared to those of the porous scaffolds used for the in vitro studies. For in vivo studies, 180 mg of NaCl was mixed with 120 mg of microspheres to make scaffolds with the thickness of 0.1 cm and diameter of 1.3 cm. The mixture was transferred to a die and was compressed by applying a load of seven tons for two minutes. The rest of the procedure for scaffold fabrication was same as the procedure followed for the scaffolds used in release studies. Before the surgery the animals were anesthetized and radiographic images of their hind limbs were obtained. Incision was made in the anterior side of the tibia and the medial tibia was exposed with an intact growth plate (Figure 3.4.1.1). A 1 mm burr (Stryker Medical Kalamazoo, MI) was used to remove the medial half of the tibial growth plate (Figure 3.4.1.2). The place of injury was irrigated well before the incision was closed. The animals were allowed to recover for three weeks before the implantation of the porous hydrophilic PLGA scaffolds. Before the implantation of the scaffolds, radiographic images of the hind legs were obtained for confirmation of the growth plate injury and formation of the bone bar. The burr was used to remove the bone bar, and it was replaced with blank or IGF-I loaded scaffold (Figure 3.4.1.3). In the case of the control legs, the bone bar was removed and it was left without any replacement with a scaffold. The animals were allowed to heal for eight to sixteen weeks, after which they were euthanized. The hind limbs were harvested for further studies, after obtaining the radiographic images.





Figure 3.4.1.1: Incision made in the anterior side of the tibia to expose the intact growth plate.



Figure 3.4.1.2: Removal of the medial half of the tibial growth plate.





Figure 3.4.1.3: Implantation of the scaffold after removal of bone bar.

## 3.4.2. Radiographic imaging for bone angle measurement

Radiographic images of the animals' legs were obtained at three time points . The first images were obtained at the start of the study, before causing the growth plate injury. The second set of the radiographic images were obtained after the formation of the bony bar. The final images were obtained eight or 16 weeks after the implantation of the scaffold, before euthanizing the animal. The lateral distal femoral angle (LDFA) and the medial proximal tibial angle (MPTA) were measured in all the cases (Figure 3.4.2.1). The LDFA is the angle made by th distal part of the femur on the lateral side of the knee region. MPTA denotes angle made by the proximal part of tibia on the medial side of the knee region. The LDAF and MPTA measured were compared during various stages of the surgery, treatment and recovery.





Figure 3.4.2.1: Angle measurement from radiographic images.

## **3.5 Histology**

## **3.5.1 Decalcification and sectioning of bone**

The harvested bones were decalcified using 10% 10 % nitric acid or EDTA. The decalcification solution was changed every five days to perform decalcification test. Decalcification test was performed by mixing 5 ml of decalcification solution with 10 ml of 5% ammonium hydroxide/5% ammonium oxalate (50:50) working solution. The test solution was left to stand for an overnight period to check the formation of precipitate. The complete decalcification of the bone was confirmed when no precipitate was observed on two consecutive days of testing. The decalcified bone was cut in half through the coronal plane, and the anterior and posterior parts obtained were again treated with decalcification solution to make sure that the inner parts of the bone were completely decalcified. The anterior and posterior parts of the bones were embedded separately in paraffin and sectioned using a microtome (Finesse ME+ Waltham, MA). Sections with a thickness of 10 µm were obtained and heat-fixed at 42°C onto Superfrost slides.



#### 3.5.2 Staining of tissues

The heat-fixed sections were deparaffinized using xylene (Fisher Scientific, Fair Lawn, NJ) followed by hydration using graded ethanol (Fisher Scientific) series. Two staining techniques were used: 1) hematoxlin and eosin (H&E) for visualization of the overall tissue organization and 2) safranin O for identification of GAG-containing tissue. For H&E, the deparaffinized and hydrated sections were immersed in Gills 3 hematoxylin (Richard Allan Scientific; Kalamazoo, MI) for 2 minutes and eosin (Schmid & Co.; Washington, D.C.) for 30 seconds. For safranin O, other deparaffinized and hydrated sections were immersed in acid fast green (Fisher Scientific) for 5 minutes and safranin O (Sigma). After staining, all the sections were dehydrated using graded alcohol series and xylene, and thenthe slides were coverslipped using Permount SP15-500 (Fisher Scientific). The stained sections were observed using a microscope (Nikon Eclipse E600) and the images were obtained using the attached Nikon DN 100 digital camera.

Copright <sup>©</sup> Sharath kumar Chinnakavanam Sundararaj



#### 4. RESULTS

## 4.1 Release profiles

## 4.1.1 Lysozyme-encapsulated PLGA scaffolds

The release profile of lysozyme from the PLGA scaffolds obtained as a pilot study is shown in Figure 4.1.1.a. There was an initial burst (a very high peak in the release seen in the first 24 hours) in the release of lysozyme from the scaffolds which was followed by a gradual reduction in the amount of protein released. The cumulative release of lysozyme from the scaffolds degraded in PBS is shown in Figure 4.1.1b. At the end of day 10, 84% of the encapsulated protein had been released.



Figure 4.1.1a: Release profile of lysozyme encapsulated PLGA scaffolds degraded in PBS





Figure 4.1.1b: Cumulative lysozyme release from PLGA scaffolds degraded in PBS

## 4.1.2 Lysozyme-adsorbed PLGA scaffolds

Release profiles of blank scaffolds adsorbed with lysozyme for one hour and the blank scaffolds adsorbed with lysozyme for 24 hours are shown in Figures 4.1.2a, and their cumulative release is shown in Figure 4.1.2b. In both the cases the initial release was very high during the first 2 days and the release was not significant after the first week. The blank discs that were immersed in the lysozyme for 24 hours had higher amount of protein adsorbed and released when compared to the blank disc immersed in the lysozyme for one hour. The amount of lysozyme adsorbed and released from the scaffolds adsorbed with lysozyme for 24 hours was found to be 60% higher than the scaffolds adsorbed with lysozyme for one hour.





Figures 4.1.2a: Comparison of release profiles from scaffolds adsorbed with lysozyme for 1 hour and 24 hours and degraded in PBS



Figures 4.1.2b: Comparison of cumulative releases from scaffolds adsorbed with lysozyme for 1 hour and 24 hours and degraded in PBS



To showcase the effect of encapsulation of protein within the scaffold, the release profile of the scaffolds encapsulated with lysozyme was compared with the release profile of the scaffolds adsorbed with lysozyme for 24 hours on their surface. The comparison of the cumulative release from the lysozyme encapsulated and adsorbed (for 24 hours) scaffold is shown in the Figure 4.1.2d. In the adsorbed scaffolds 70% of the adsorbed protein was released by day four compared to the release of 61% of lysozyme by day four in the case of lysozyme encapsulated scaffold. The cumulative release also shows that the total amount of lysozyme released at the end of the study from the encapsulated scaffold (28.24 $\mu$ g) was 61% more than the total amount of lysozyme (17.54 $\mu$ g).



Figure 4.1.2c: Comparison of lysozyme released from encapsulated and adsorbed (for 24 hours) scaffolds




Figure 4.1.2d: Comparison of cumulative release of lysozyme from encapsulated and adsorbed scaffolds

### 4.1.3 IGF-I-encapsulated PLGA scaffolds

Following the pilot study using lysozyme, the release profile of the IGF-I from the IGFI-I encapsulated scaffolds was also obtained (Figure 4.1.3a). The release of IGF-I followed a similar pattern to that of the lysozyme. The release was characterized with an initial burst resulting in significant amount of protein released in the first week. There was relatively less protein released after one month, and it took around 50 days for the scaffolds to degrade completely. The cumulative release pattern of the IGF-I encapsulated scaffolds degraded in PBS is shown in the Figure 4.1.3b. Approximately 85% of protein was released within the first 10 days.





Figure 4.1.3a: Release profile of IGF-I encapsulated PLGA scaffolds.



Figure 4.1.3b: Cumulative IGF-I release from PLGA scaffolds.



## 4.1.4. IGF-I-encapsulated PLGA scaffolds in cell culture medium

The study conducted by degrading the scaffolds in cell culture medium (DMEM) showed a different kind of a release profile compared to scaffolds degraded in PBS. The comparison between the release of IGF-I from IGF-I encapsulated scaffolds degraded in PBS and cell culture medium can be more clearly seen from Figure 4.1.4a.



Figure 4.1.4a: Comparison between the release of IGF-I from IGF-I-encapsulated scaffolds degraded in PBS and cell culture medium.

The release of IGF-I from the IGF-I encapsulated scaffolds seeded with macrophages was also obtained. Figure 4.1.4b compares the release profile of IGF-I from the scaffolds degraded in PBS, cell culture medium and cell culture medium with macrophages. The statistical analysis showed that the slopes of the release curves of scaffolds degraded in PBS, cell culture medium and cell culture medium with macrophages were significantly different. Slopes of the release curves were calculated at two different regions of the curve, the first slope was calculated from the release curve by fitting a line between the days 1 to 10, and the second slope was calculated from the release curve by fitting a line between the days 12 to 25. Both these slopes from the



release profile of IGF-I in PBS were compared with the respective slopes from the release profiles of IGF-I in cell culture medium and cell culture medium with macrophages. The results were found to be significantly different for the slopes from day 1 to 10 (P=0.0002) and for the slopes from day 12 to 25 (P=0.0039). The area under the release curves was also calculated for all the three release curves, but it was not found to be significantly different (P=0.2179) in all the three release curves. The cumulative release of the IGF-I from the scaffolds degraded in PBS (1.9  $\mu$ g), cell culture medium (2.1  $\mu$ g) and cell culture medium with macrophages (2.3  $\mu$ g) showed that the total amount of IGF-I released in all three cases were almost the same (Figure 4.1.4c).



Figure 4.1.4b: Comparison of the release profile of IGF-I from the scaffolds degraded in PBS, cell culture medium and cell culture medium with macrophages.





Figure 4.1.4c: Comparison of the cumulative release of IGF-I from the scaffolds degraded in PBS, cell culture medium and cell culture medium with macrophages.

Table 4.1.4.1. : Comparison of the release profile of IGF-I from the scaffolds degraded in PBS, cell culture medium and cell culture medium with macrophages with their p values.

Comparison of the release profile of IGF-I from the scaffolds degraded in PBS, cell culture medium and cell culture medium with macrophages.	P value
Slope of the line fitted on the release curves from day 1 to 10	<b>0.0002</b> <0.05
Slope of the line fitted on the release curves from day 12 to 25	<b>0.0039</b> <0.05
Area under the release curves	<b>0.2179</b> >0.05



### 4.2 Mass loss studies

## 4.2.1 Mass loss profile of PLGA scaffolds

The mass loss profile of the porous PLGA scaffolds degraded in PBS is shown in the Figure 4.2.1.1. This data was obtained by destructive mass loss studies. Mass loss profile followed a linear pattern with a gradual decrease in the mass of the scaffolds with the time. The mass loss study was also conducted in the cell culture medium instead of PBS. In this case the porous PLGA scaffolds were degraded in cell culture medium and incubated in a 5% CO<sub>2</sub> incubator. The scaffolds swelled up and increased in size as they started degrading. Figure 4.2.1.2 shows the changes in the size and shape of the scaffolds degraded in cell culture medium at various time points. The scaffolds increased to a maximum of 150% by day 12 when degraded in cell culture medium. The mass loss profile of scaffolds degraded in cell culture medium (Figure 4.2.1.3) was similar to that of the scaffolds degraded in the PBS.



Figure 4.2.1.1: Porous PLGA scaffolds degraded in cell culture medium at various time points



The comparison of the mass loss profile of the porous PLGA scaffold in PBS and cell culture medium is shown in the Figure 4.2.1.4. The mass loss profiles in both the cases are very similar in spite of the difference in the morphology of the scaffolds observed during the course of degradation. The Figure 4.2.1.5 shows the morphology of the scaffolds degraded in PBS, cell culture medium and cell culture medium with macrophages at day 20. The image clearly shows that the scaffolds degraded in the cell culture medium and in the cell culture medium with macrophages in a different way. The scaffolds swelled up more than their usual size when degraded in the cell culture medium. When the scaffolds were degraded in the cell culture medium with macrophages seeded on top of them, the scaffolds contracted unlike the scaffolds degraded in the cell culture medium.



Figure 4.2.1.2.: The comparison of the mass loss profile of the porous PLGA scaffold in PBS and cell culture medium





Figure 4.2.1.3: Scaffolds degraded in PBS, cell culture medium and cell culture medium with macrophages at day 20.

## 4.3 Cell seeding on IGF-I encapsulated scaffolds

# 4.3.1 Confocal images of the cells seeded on the scaffolds

Three weeks after seeding the bone marrow cells on top of the blank scaffolds and IGF-I encapsulated scaffolds, they were labeled with Cell Tracker and visualized using a confocal microscope. Figure 4.3.1.1 shows a representative image obtained from a blank scaffold. The image shows the cells (green spots) present in the porous scaffold. This image shows the cells that have penetrated the pores present in the scaffold three weeks after seeding. Similar confocal images obtained from the porous scaffolds seeded with BMCs and IGF-I added externally showed the presence of cells after three weeks. Figure 4.3.1.2 show the images obtained from the IGF-I added externally. The confocal images from the IGF-I encapsulated scaffolds clearly showed the presence of the cells at the edges of the pores present in the scaffolds (marked by arrows). Confocal images confirmed the presence of labeled cells present within the scaffolds both in the case of the controls and the IGF-I encapsulated scaffolds.





Figure 4.3.1.1: Confocal image of BMCs on a blank scaffold after three weeks.





Figure 4.3.1.2: Confocal image of BMCs on a blank scaffold after three weeks of culture with IGF-I added externally.





Figure 4.3.1.3: Confocal image of BMCs on an IGF-I encapsulated scaffold after three weeks.



### 4.3.2. GAG and DNA assay

The GAG assay was performed with the blank scaffolds and IGF-I encapsulated scaffolds seeded with bone marrow cells. At the end of the three week period, the results showed an increased amount of GAG production in the case of IGF-I added blank scaffolds and IGF-I encapsulated scaffolds compared to that of the blank scaffolds seeded with the bone marrow cells (Figure 4.3.2.1). The results after the four week time period showed that the amount of GAG produced was almost equal in the blank scaffolds seeded with bone marrow cells and blank scaffolds seeded with bone marrow cells and IGF-I added externally (Figure 4.3.2.2). Even after four week time period the IGF-I encapsulated scaffolds seeded with bone marrow cells showed more production of the GAG when compared to its control.



Figure 4.3.2.1: Concentration of the GAG, measured from BMCs cultured on PLGA scaffolds for three weeks.





Figure 4.3.2.2: Concentration of the GAG, measured from BMCs cultured on PLGA scaffolds for four weeks.

The GAG assay results obtained were normalized by dividing the amount of GAG produced by the total amount of cells present in the scaffolds. The amount of cells present in each scaffold was determined by Pico green DNA assay. The amount of DNA was found to be more in the case of IGF-I added and encapsulated scaffolds compared to the blank scaffolds after three week and four week time periods, indicating the effect of IGF-I on cell multiplication (Figure 4.3.2.3 and Figure 4.3.2.4). Figure 4.3.2.5 shows the normalized data after three week time period. These results did not show any significant difference between the normalized GAG concentrations of the IGF-I encapsulated scaffolds and the controls. Similar results were obtained from four week time period data (Figure 4.3.2.6). There was no significant difference between the normalized GAG concentrations of the IGF-I encapsulated scaffolds and the controls.





Figure 4.3.2.3: Amount of DNA from BMCs cultured on PLGA scaffolds for three weeks.



Figure 4.3.2.4: Amount of DNA from BMCs cultured on PLGA scaffolds for four weeks.

36





Figure 4.3.2.5: Normalized GAG content of BMCs cultured on PLGA scaffolds for three weeks.







# 4.4 Animal study

## 4.4.1 Angle measurements from the radiographic images

The measured LDFA and MPTA were compared between the animals which were implanted with blank scaffolds or IGF-I encapsulated scaffolds and animals without the scaffold (controls). Figure 4.5.2.1 shows the results of the comparison of the LDFA. During the first radiographic images the angle was around 90 degrees, but there was no significant change in the angles measured at the start of the study, after three weeks (after formation of bone bar) and after 11 weeks (at the end of the treatment). Figure 4.5.2.2 shows the MPTA of the animals at various stages of the study. There was no statistically significant change in the MPTA measured at the start of the study, after formation of bone bar) and after 11 weeks (at the end of the treatment).



Figure 4.4.1.1: Comparison of LDFA during various stages of the study.





Figure 4.4.1.2: Comparison of MPTA during various stages of the study.

# 4.5 Histology

Tissue sections stained by H&E and safranin O staining were compared between the control, blank scaffold and drug loaded scaffold implanted bone sections. The images showed intact growth plate on the lateral part of the proximal tibia where the growth plate was not disturbed during the surgery. In the medial half of the proximal tibial growth plate where the injury was created and the scaffold was implanted showed regeneration of cartilage in the case of bones implanted with IGF-I encapsulated scaffold. The visual observation of the regenerated cartilage showed that unlike the native growth plate the chondrocytes were not stacked but scattered in the extracellular matrix.

# 4.5.1 Images from the H&E staining

H&E staining was performed on the tissue sections obtained from control (animals without the scaffold treatment), animals implanted with blank scaffold and IGF-I encapsulated



scaffold. The images from the H&E stained slides are shown below. Figure 4.6.1.1 shows the H&E stained image from coronal section of proximal tibia from the control rabbit. The coronal section shows both the medial half (M) and lateral half (L) of the proximal tibia. The implant site does not show any signs of growth plate regeneration. The same kind of observation was also made in the case of the bones implanted with blank scaffold (Figure 4.6.1.2). In the animals where the injured growth plate was treated with implantation of IGF-I encapsulated scaffold (Figure 4.6.1.3) cartilage regeneration was observed.



Figure 4.5.1.1: H&E stained coronal section of rabbit proximal tibia (control - without scaffold implantation) at the end of the study.





Figure 4.5.1.2: H&E stained coronal section of rabbit proximal tibia (with blank scaffold) at the end of the study.





Figure 4.5.1.3: H&E stained coronal section of rabbit proximal tibia (with IGF-I encapsulated scaffold) at the end of the study.

Further magnified images of the native growth plate (Figure 4.6.1.4) and the regenerated growth plate Figure (4.6.1.5) were also obtained. Stacks of chondrocytes were observed in the case of the native growth plate. In the regenerated growth plate the chondrocytes were not found in the usual stacked manner. Single chondrocytes were distributed in the extra cellular matrix in the regenerated growth plate.





Figure 4.5.1.4 : Magnified image of the native growth plate with chondrocytes stacked.





Figure 4.5.1.5: Magnified image of regenerated growth plate with chondrocytes distributed in the extracellular matrix.

# 4.5.2 Images from safranin O staining

Safranin O staining was also done on the sections obtained at the end of the study. In the case of the safranin O staining the counter staining using fast green did not stain prominently in some sections. This resulted in the presence of only the stained cartilage seen in the images.





Figure 4.5.2.1: Safranin O stained coronal section of rabbit proximal tibia (control - without scaffold implantation) at the end of the study.





Figure 4.5.2.2: safranin O stained coronal section of rabbit proximal tibia (with implantation of blank scaffold) at the end of the study.





Figure 4.5.2.3: Saffronin O stained coronal section of rabbit proximal tibia (with implantation of IGF-I scaffold) at the end of the study.

Copright <sup>©</sup> Sharath kumar Chinnakavanam Sundararaj



### 5. DISCUSSION

### 5.1 Release of protein from PLGA scaffold

### 5.1.1. Release profile of protein encapsulated scaffolds degraded in PBS

Two proteins were used to study the release profile of proteins encapsulated in the PLGA scaffolds. Lysozyme was used as a pilot protein during the initial stages of the release profile study. Release profile of IGF-I (protein of interest) encapsulated in PLGA scaffold was also obtained. Lysozyme is relatively inexpensive when compared to the IGF-I, so it was used to conduct initial pilot studies. The release profiles obtained showed that the release of lysozyme and IGF-I followed a similar biphasic pattern. There was an initial burst (high amount of protein being released in the first 24 – 48 hours) representing the initial diffusion of the proteins from the PLGA scaffold through the pores and the release of proteins from the microspheres present on the surface of the scaffold [17]. Following the initial burst, the amount of protein being released over the next two week time period and slowly stopped after one month. This gradual release of the protein from the scaffold was due to the degradation of PLGA present in the scaffold. The presence of surface pores in the microspheres is the reason the biphasic release that is occurring. The initial phase of release was due to the diffusion of protein through the aqueous pores. The next phase of release was due to the erosion of the PLGA matrix and the release of the proteins encapsulated within the internal pores of the microspheres.

The only difference that was observed when the comparing the release profile and cumulative release of lysozyme and IGF-I was the total amount of protein encapsulated and released. The results show that a greater amount of lysozyme (28  $\mu$ g) was encapsulated and released when compared to the amount of IGF-I (2.8  $\mu$ g), even when same amount of IGF-I and lysozyme was used during the encapsulation process. The reason behind this difference in the amount of protein encapsulated and released was mainly due to the size of the protein molecule. The molecular weight of lysozyme (14,700 Daltons) is twice that of IGF-I (7,600 Daltons) [9]. The size of the protein molecule has a major effect on the microencapsulation and its release. Santander-Ortega et al. showed the effect of molecular weight on the protein encapsulation. Being a smaller molecule IGF-I can easily diffuse trough the polymer when compared to a relatively bigger molecule (lysozyme). There are even chances of losing IGF-I during the process of leaching the



IGF-I encapsulated scaffolds in deionised water for creating pores. There are factors like proteins affinity towards the PLGA that might be responsible for reduced amount of IGF-I being encapsulated and released when compared to lysozyme [27]. Despite the loss of IGF-I during the microencapsulation process, the amount that has been encapsulated and released ( $2.7\mu g$ ) is physiologically significant. Trippel et al. showed that nanomolar concentrations of IGF-I is sufficient for mitosis and differentiation of growth plate chondrocytes [15].

## 5.1.2. Release profile of protein adsorbed and protein encapsulated scaffolds

To check the effect of microsphere encapsulation on protein release, protein-encapsulated scaffolds were compared with protein-adsorbed PLGA scaffolds. Since both lysozyme and IGF-I followed a similar release pattern, lysozyme was adsorbed on the surface of the scaffold. The blank scaffolds were immersed in protein solution of desired concentration for different time intervals (one and 24 hours) to adsorb protein on the surface of the PLGA scaffold. The blank scaffolds immersed in lysozyme solution for 24 hours adsorbed more lysozyme when compared to blank scaffolds immersed in lysozyme solution for 24 hours were compared with lysozyme-encapsulated PLGA scaffolds. The release profile obtained showed that, unlike the protein encapsulated scaffolds, protein adsorbed scaffolds did not follow a biphasic release pattern. There was an initial burst in the release in the lysozyme adsorbed scaffold. This is because in the adsorbed scaffolds, the protein was present only on the surface, which was released within the first week. These studies showed that encapsulation of protein within the scaffold increased the amount of drug that can be delivered at the site of interest.

## 5.1.3. Release profile of protein-encapsulated scaffolds degraded in cell culture medium

IGF-I-encapsulated scaffolds degraded in cell culture medium showed a different kind of release profile. IGF-I was released in a relatively slower manner when the scaffolds were degraded in cell culture medium, compared to the release from the scaffolds degraded in PBS. The statistical analysis also proved that the slopes of the release curves were different between scaffolds degraded in cell culture medium and PBS. The area under the release curve was also measured and it was found that the difference between the area under the release curve obtained



from the scaffolds degraded in PBS and cell culture medium was not statistically significant. This indicates that even though there was a different between the release profiles of IGF-I encapsulated scaffold degraded in PBS and cell culture medium, the amount of protein that has been released at the end of the study has been the same. Faisant et al. showed that the increase in the osmolarity of the release medium had a significant effect on the release profile of drug from PLGA-based microparticles. According to their study an increase in the concentration of the release medium led to the decrease in the drug release rate [19]. The relatively sustained release of IGF-I from the PLGA scaffolds degraded in cell culture medium might be because of a similar effect. In this case the increased presence of various proteins due to the presence of fetal bovine serum (FBS) in the cell culture medium might have decreased the movement of water in and out of the scaffold. This reduces the mobility of the drug (IGF-I) which ultimately affected the release rate. Based on this effect, we can expect a more sustained release of IGF-I from the scaffold is placed in a more complex and dynamic environment with enzymes and cells.

# 5.1.4. Release profile of protein-encapsulated scaffolds degraded in cell culture medium along with macrophages

Scaffolds degraded in cell culture medium along with macrophages seeded on top of them also showed a different kind of release profile. The macrophages were added to further mimic the physiological conditions. Macrophages are one of the dominant types of cells present near the injury site, where their main function is to engulf and digest the foreign bodies that enter the body. Macrophages were seeded on top of the scaffolds to observe their effect on scaffold degradation and protein release. The release profile was significantly different from the release profile of scaffolds degraded in PBS without macrophages. The effects of macrophages on the scaffolds are further discussed in the section 5.2.1 of the discussion.



## 5.2 Degradation of PLGA scaffolds

## 5.2.1 Mass loss of scaffolds degraded in PBS

Mass loss studies conducted by degrading blank scaffolds in PBS showed that degradation occurred in a linear fashion. The pores present in the scaffolds were filled with water at first, and the scaffolds started to swell up by absorption of water followed by slow erosion of the polymer. The degradation of the polymer is initiated by the hydrolysis of the ester bonds by the water molecules [18]. Due to the presence of the pores, the scaffold structure is in the form of an interconnected network. Due to this, even as the polymer bonds break, the scaffolds maintain their structure for a period of two to three weeks and then slowly break down. The release profile showed that significant amount of the IGF-I was released within the first three week time period. This shows that before the complete collapse of the scaffold occurred most of the protein encapsulated in the scaffold was released.

## 5.2.2 Mass loss of scaffolds degraded in cell culture medium

The mass loss profile of the blank scaffolds degraded in cell culture medium showed a similar type of mass loss profile compared to the blank scaffolds degraded in PBS. The mass loss occurred in a linear pattern with respect to time. When the morphology of the scaffolds was studied during various stages of the degradation, the scaffolds increased in size as the degradation proceeded, and then after about three weeks they started to collapse and shrink. The scaffolds swelled up mainly because of the absorption of the water through the pores present in the scaffold. The PBS or the cell culture medium penetrated the pores and started degrading the scaffold's internal structure along with the external surface. The shrinking of the scaffold that was observed after three week time period was mainly due to physical disintegration or fragmentation of the internal structure of the scaffold [28].

This type of change in morphology of the scaffolds due to swelling was observed in both the scaffolds degraded in PBS and cell culture medium, but these morphological changes were more significant in the scaffolds degraded in cell culture medium. The mass loss profile of both the blank scaffolds degraded in PBS and cell culture medium were the same, even though there was difference observed in the morphology during the scaffold degradation in cell culture medium when compared to the scaffolds degraded in PBS.



Mass loss studies were not conducted with macrophages seeded on top of the blank scaffolds degraded in cell culture medium, but the scaffolds seeded with macrophages were observed during the release studies. It was clear that the morphology of the scaffolds was different during the course of degradation with macrophages when compared to the morphology of scaffolds degraded in PBS and cell culture medium. This clearly shows that macrophages have an effect on the scaffold degradation, the scaffolds started shrinking and started to collapse. This may be because of the phagocytic activity of the macrophages that have infiltrated the scaffold, leading to degradation of the polymer scaffold [29]. Pan et al. also showed that the degradation of the PLGA scaffold occurred faster in the presence of macrophages when compared to the PLGA scaffolds degraded in PBS or cell culture medium [30]. This study with macrophages was only a small part of this research. More studies are needed to further explain the effect of macrophages on scaffold degradation and protein release.

## 5.3 In vitro cell studies

### 5.3.1 Seeding the cells with fibrin glue

In physiological conditions the cells present near the site of implantation are expected to come in contact with the fibrin. Fibrin is produced as a result of the blood coagulation cascade and is expected to be found at the site of implantation. To mimic this condition in vitro and to keep the BMCs from flowing out of the scaffolds and in to the cell culture medium, fibrin glue was used to clot the cells within the scaffolds. Fibrin glue has been successfully used in several tissue engineering studies for sealing of tissues and cell adhesion [31, 32]. In this research the BMCs were mixed with fibrinogen and seeded on the scaffold followed by addition of thrombin to form a thrombin-fibrinogen clot along with the cells within the scaffold. Yi-xiong et al. showed that fibrin gel used for immobilization of progenitor cells in 3-dimensional PLGA scaffolds resulted in homogeneous distribution of cells [33]. Hybrid scaffolds based on fibrin and PLGA have also been used by Munirah et al. for cartilage tissue engineering [34].

## 5.3.2 Confocal imaging of BMC-seeded scaffolds

Thevenot et al. showed the ability of cells to infiltrate the 3-dimensional PLGA scaffolds [35]. Studies done by Wang et al. involved the infiltration of BMCs in the pores of PLGA scaffolds. Their studies also showed the ability of BMCs to differentiate within the porous PLGA



scaffold [36]. Confocal images of the scaffolds seeded with BMCs using fibrin glue showed that the cells infiltrated the pores present in the scaffolds. In all the cases the BMCs labeled with fluorescent dye was seen present at the edges of the pores of the scaffold. These images were obtained three weeks after seeding the bone marrow cells on the scaffold which confirms that the cells which infiltrated the pores were held inside them for the required period of time. This also shows that the experimental set up used for the in vitro studies is appropriate.

### 5.3.3 Analysis of GAG content from the BMCs

GAG assay was performed on the scaffolds seeded with BMCs after three and four weeks of cell culture to estimate the amount of GAG content present. The results showed that the BMCs present on the IGF-I encapsulated scaffolds produced more GAG when compared to the BMCs present on blank scaffolds with IGF-I added externally and the blank control scaffold. The data obtained by GAG assay were normalized to determine the effect of cell proliferation on the amount of GAG produced. The normalization was done by finding the amount of DNA present in each scaffold and dividing the amount of GAG produced by the amount of DNA for the respective scaffolds. The DNA assay showed that the amount of DNA present in the IGF-Iencapsulated scaffolds was higher than that of the control blank scaffold and the blank scaffold with IGF-I added externally. This effect is mainly due to the mitogenic effect of IGF-I on BMCs [8, 12, 37]. The increased number of BMCs in the IGF-I encapsulated scaffold (more DNA) showed the effect of the released IGF-I. The comparison of the normalized data between the control blank, IGF-I externally added and IGF-I encapsulated scaffold at three week and four week time points did not show statistical significance. This was because of increased cell proliferation in the IGF-I encapsulated scaffold and the scaffolds with IGF-I added externally neutralized the amount of GAG produced when normalized. On the whole, the in vitro studies show that the IGF-I released from the encapsulated scaffold led to cell proliferation and production of GAG. With these release profile data, mass loss studies and in vitro cell studies as background, in vivo studies were done by implanting the scaffolds in New Zealand white rabbits.



### 5.4 In vivo studies

### 5.4.1 Scaffold used in the animal surgery

The surgery was performed on the medial half of the tibial growth plate of the New Zealand white rabbit. The scaffolds used in the surgery was different in dimensions when compared to the one used in the release studies. Klose et al. showed that the PLGA device geometry did not have any significant effect on the relative release rate of the drug [22]. The drug release from the implanted scaffold must have been similar to that of the scaffold used in the release studies. There might be different release pattern of the drug from the scaffold in vivo, as shown previously in results the release pattern was significantly different based on the medium (PBS or cell culture medium) in which the scaffold is degraded. The rate of scaffold degradation also occurs faster in vivo conditions [18].

### 5.4.2 Radiographic images

The LDFA and MPTA were measured before creating the growth plate injury, before implantation of the scaffold (after formation of bone bar) and at the end of the treatment period. The idea was to study the bone angles, which serve as the primary means for determining the effect of the implant through the course of treatment. The bone angles measured from the radiographic images showed that there was not significant change in both the LDFA and MPTA during the course of the treatment. There was no change expected in the LDFA as there was no injury created in the femoral part of the leg. As expected LDFA was around 90 degrees at the beginning of the study and continued to be around 90 degrees throughout the course of the treatment without any significant change. Since the injury was induced in the medial tibial region, change in the MPTA was expected during the course of the treatment. The MPTA was around 90 degrees at the beginning of the study and it was expected to go down from 90 degrees after the induction of the growth plate injury. The MPTA was reduced to below 80 degrees in all three cases of control (no scaffold), blank scaffold implanted and IGF-I scaffold implanted cases. This reduction in MPTA was due collapsing of the bone due to the removal of the growth plate. The implantation of the scaffold after removing the bone was expected to stabilize the injury site and deliver the IGF-I encapsulated in the scaffold for cartilage regeneration. The measurement of the MPTA at the end of the treatment showed that there was no significant correction of the



angle observed in the site of scaffold implantation. Future studies must involve a larger sample size and possible improvements in the animal model.

# 5.4.3 Histology

The images obtained from the tissue sections showed that presence of regenerated cartilage in the cases of the limbs which were implanted with IGF-I-encapsulated scaffolds. This regenerated cartilage was not observed in the case of the controls (animals without implant after induction of growth plate injury) and animals implanted with blank scaffolds in the site of growth plate injury. The regenerated cartilage was observed to be present in the medial half of the tibial growth plate region where the growth plate injury was induced and IGF-I scaffold was placed. The presence of cartilage at this region serves as the evidence for the effect of IGF-I encapsulated scaffold on the regeneration of cartilage at the site of injury. When compared with the native growth plate, however, it was observed that the regenerated growth plate was not identical in its morphological structure with the native growth plate. The chondrocytes in the native growth plate were stacked whereas the chondrocytes present in the regenerated cartilage were not place in a stacked columnar fashion. The chondrocytes were separate from each other and were distributes individually in the extracellular matrix. The IGF-I encapsulated scaffold had random pores distributed homogenously throughout the scaffold. The cells might have entered these pores and started to multiply and differentiate with the aid of the IGF-I that is being released from the scaffold. The random distribution of the cells within the pores of the scaffold might have been the reason for the random organization of the chondrocytes in the regenerated growth plate.

Both the tibias in a rabbit were used for creating injury and used as either control or implanted with blank or IGF-I encapsulated scaffold. This model used for the surgery might have affected the recovery of rabbits as continuous load was applied on both the injury site. This might have also been the reason for the lack of improvement seen in the defective bone angle in spite of the regeneration of the cartilage at the injured site. Previous work done with IGF-I plasmid releasing PLGA scaffolds showed similar type of results with regeneration of chondrocytes at the site of injury without complete correction of the defect in the bone angle. A higher molecular weight



PLGA can be used in future studies to provide prolonged support to the damaged bone and obtain even better tissue regeneration.

Copright <sup>©</sup> Sharath kumar Chinnakavanam Sundararaj



### 6. CONCLUSION

The main aim of this research was to develop a biodegradable drug delivery device for the treatment of the growth plate injury. The regeneration of the growth plate cartilage in the site of injury has confirmed that the IGF-I was successfully released from the porous PLGA scaffold and induced the formation of chondrocytes and extracellular matrix. The release studies showed that microencapsulation of IGF-I was a suitable method for storage of the drug within the scaffold that is going to be released. The release studies and the in vitro cell studies confirmed that the device was capable of releasing the drug in a required pattern and bioactive state. The IGF-I encapsulated porous PLGA scaffold implanted in the rabbit model for treatment of growth plate injury has successfully regenerated cartilage at the site of injury, even though it was not effective in correcting the defect in the bone angle that was caused due to the injury. The results of this research has shown that using porous PLGA scaffolds with IGF-I encapsulated in the form of microspheres will serve as an appropriate drug delivery system for the cartilage regeneration. This work will be a significant step forward in the tissue engineering of growth plate cartilage.

Copright <sup>©</sup> Sharath kumar Chinnakavanam Sundararaj



# REFERENCE

- 1. Priya Radhakrishnan, Naama T. Lewis, and Jeremy J. Mao., Zone-Specific Micromechanical Properties of the Extracellular Matrices of Growth Plate Cartilage. Annals of Biomedical Engineering, 2004. 32: p. 284–291.
- 2. Christoph Brochhausen, Meike Lehmann, Sven Halstenberg, Andrea Meurer, G<sup>•</sup>unter Klaus and C. James Kirkpatrick., Signalling molecules and growth factors for tissue engineering of cartilage – what can we learn from the growth plate? J Tissue Eng Regen Med, 2009. 3: 416-29
- 3. Isabelle Villemure and IanA.F.Stokes., Growth plate mechanics and mechanobiology. A survey of present understanding. Journal of Biomechanics 2009. 42:1793-803
- 4. JA Buckwalter, D Mower, J Schafer, R Ungar, B Ginsberg and K Moore., Growth-platechondrocyte profiles and their orientation. J Bone Joint Surg Am., 1985. 67: p. 942-955.
- 5. Kim Sergerie, Marc-Olivier Lacoursie`re, Martin Le'vesque and Isabelle Villemure, Mechanical properties of the porcine growth plate and its three zones from unconfined compression tests. 2009. 42: p. 510-516.
- 6. Fiona H. Zhou, Bruce K. Foster, Guy Sander and Cory J. Xian., Expression of proinflammatory cytokines and growth factors at the injured growth plate cartilage in young rats. Bone, 2004. 35: p. 1307-1315.
- 7. Brian Keith Hall., Bone: Fracture repair and regeneration.
- 8. Chang Woo Lee, Vladimir Martinek, Arvydas Usas, Doug Musgrave, E. A. Pickvance, Paul Robbins, Morey S. Moreland, Freddie H. Fu and Johnny Huard., Muscle-Based Gene Therapy and Tissue Engineering for Treatment of Growth Plate Injuries. Journal of Pediatric Orthopaedics 2002. 22: p. 565-572.
- 9. Ernesto Canalis, Thomas McCarthy, and Michael Centrella, Growth Factors and the Regulation of Bone Remodeling. The American Society for Clinical Investigation, 1988. 81: p. 277-281.
- 10. Christoph Gaissmaier, Jason L Koh and Kuno Weise., Growth and differentiation factors for cartilage healing and repair. Injury, Int. J. Care Injured 2008. 39: p. S88-S96.
- 11. Shoshana Yakar and Clifford J. Rosen., From Mouse to Man: Redefining the Role of Insulin-Like Growth Factor-I in the Acquisition of Bone Mass. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med, 1998. 219: p. 1-7.
- 12. SB Trippel, J.Wroblewski, AM Makower, MC Whelan, D Schoenfeld and SR Doctrow, Regulation of growth-plate chondrocytes by insulin-like growth-factor I and basic fibroblast growth factor. J Bone Joint Surg Am., 1993. 75: p. 177-189.


- 13. Trippel S.B., <u>Van Wyk</u> J. J., Foster M. B. and Svoboda, M. E., Characterization of a specific somatomedin-C receptor on isolated bovine growth plate chondrocytes. . Endocrinology, 1983. 112: p. 2128-2136.
- 14. Ernst B. Hunziker, Jeannine Wagner, and Jurgen Zapf., Differential Effects of Insulinlike Growth Factor I and Growth Hormone on Developmental Stages of Rat Growth Plate Chondrocytes In Vivo. J. Clin. Invest., 1994. 93: p. 1078-1086.
- 15. S.B. Trippel, M.T.Corvol, M.F. Dumontier, R. Rappaport, H.H. Hung and H.J.Mankin., Effect of somatomedin-C/IGF-I and growth hormone on cultured growth plate and articular chondrocytes. Pediatric Research 1989. 25: p. 76-82.
- 16. Jain, R.A., The manufacturing techniques of various drug loaded biodegradable poly(lactide-co-glycolide) (PLGA) devices. Biomaterials 2000. 21: p. 2475-2490.
- 17. A. Giteau, M.C. Venier-Julienne, A. Aubert-Pou<sup>e</sup>essel and J.P. Benoit., How to achieve sustained and complete protein release from PLGA-based microparticles? . International Journal of Pharmaceutics 2008. 350: p. 14-26.
- 18. M.A. Tracy, K.L.Ward, L. Firouzabadian, Y. Wang, N. Dong, R. Qian and Y. Zhang., Factors affecting the degradation rate of poly(lactide-co-glycolide) microspheres in vivo and in vitro. Biomaterials 1999. 20: p. 1057-1062.
- 19. N. Faisan, J.Akiki, F. Siepmann, J.P. Benoit and J. Siepmann, Effects of the type of release medium on drug release from PLGA-based microparticles: Experiment and theory. International Journal of Pharmaceutics 2006. 314: p. 189-197.
- 20. Claudia Witschi and Eric Doelker., Influence of the microencapsulation method and peptide loading on poly(lactic acid) and poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) degradation during in vitro testing. Journal of Controlled Release 1998. 51: p. 327-341.
- 21. Menei P, Daniel V, Montero-Menei C, Brouillard M, Pouplard-Barthelaix A and Benoit JP., Biodegradation and brain tissue reaction to poly(D,L-lactide-co-glycolide) microspheres. Biomaterials 1993. 14: p. 470-8.
- 22. D. Klose, F. Siepmann, K. Elkharraz and J. Siepmann., PLGA-based drug delivery systems: Importance of the type of drug and device geometry. . International Journal of Pharmaceutics 2008. 354: p. 95-103.
- 23. Reza-Ul Jalil., Biodegradable poly (lactic acid) and poly (lactide-coglycolide) polymers in sustained drug delivery. Drug development and industrial pharmacy., 1990. 16: p. 2353-2367.



- 24. Marco Biondi, Francesca Ungaro, Fabiana Quaglia and Paolo Antonio Netti., Controlled drug delivery in tissue engineering. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews 2008. 60: p. 229-242.
- 25. Smadar Cohen, Toshio Yoshioka, Melissa Lucarelli, Lena H. Hwang and Robert Langer. , Controlled delivery systems for protein based on poly(lactic/glycolic acid) microspheres. Pharmaceutical research, 1991. 8: p. 713-720.
- 26. C. Carrascosa, L. Espejo, S. Torrado and J. J. Torrado., Effect of c-Sterilization Process on PLGA Microspheres Loaded with Insulin-like Growth Factor I (IGF-I). Journal of biomaterials applications, 2003. 18: p. 95-108.
- 27. <u>Blanco D</u> and <u>Alonso MJ</u>., Protein encapsulation and release from poly(lactide-coglycolide) microspheres: effect of the protein and polymer properties and of the coencapsulation of surfactants. European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics, 1998. 45: Pages 285-294.
- 28. Se Heang Oh, Soung Gon Kang and Jin Ho Lee, Degradation behavior of hydrophilized PLGA scaffolds prepared by melt-molding particulate-leaching method: Comparison with control hydrophobic one. Journal Of Materials Science: Materials In Medicine 2006. 17: p. 131- 137.
- 29. Martin Ru<sup>°</sup> ckera, Matthias W. Laschke, Dominik Junkerb, Carlos Carvalhoc, Alexander Schramma, Rolf Mu<sup>°</sup> lhauptc, Nils-Claudius Gellricha and Michael D. Menger., Angiogenic and inflammatory response to biodegradable scaffolds in dorsal skinfold chambers of mice. Biomaterials 2006. 27: p. 5027-5038.
- 30. Hui Pan, Hongliang Jiang and Weiliam Chen, The Biodegradability of Electrospun Dextran/PLGA Scaffold in a Fibroblast/Macrophage Co-culture. Biomaterials. , 2008. 29(11): p. 1583-1592.
- 31. Mahesh R. Patel, Paul A. Caruso, Naveed Yousuf and Jacob Rachlin., CT-Guided Percutaneous Fibrin Glue Therapy of Cerebrospinal Fluid Leaks in the Spine After Surgery. AJR 2000. 175: p. 443-446.
- 32. Hiroaki Nomori, Hirotoshi Horio, and Keiichi Suemasu., Mixing Collagen With Fibrin Glue to Strengthen the Sealing Effect for Pulmonary Air Leakage. Ann Thorac Surg 2000;70: p. 1666 -70.
- 33. Zheng Yi-xiong, <u>Ringe J.</u>, Liang Zhong, Loch Alexander, Chen Li and Sittinger Michael, Osteogenic potential of human periosteum-derived progenitor cells in PLGA scaffold using allogeneic serum. J Zhejiang Univ Sci B 2006. 7(10): p. 817-24



- 34. S. Munirah, S.H.Kim, B.H.I. Ruszymah and G. Khang., The use of fibrin and poly(lacticco-glycolic acid) hybrid scaffold for articular cartilage tissue engineering: An in vivo analysis. European cells and materials, 2008. 15: p. 41-52.
- 35. Paul T. Thevenot and Liping Tang., Novel method to monitor cell survival and distribution in plga degradable scaffolds. IEEE, 2007. 20: p. 39-42.
- 36. Zhen Wang, Zang Z, JunChuan Zhang, ZhenJue She and JianDong Ding., Distribution of bone marrow stem cells in large porous polyester scaffolds. Chinese Science Bulletin, 2009. 54: p. 2968-2975.
- 37. A. T. Raiche and D. A. Puleo, Cell responses to BMP-2 and IGF-I released with different time dependent profiles. Journal of Biomedical Materials Research 2004. 69: p. 342-350.



## VITA

Date and place of birth:

• May 31<sup>st</sup> 1986 Chennai, INDIA

Educational institutions attended and degrees already awarded:

• B. Tech., Bachelors in Biotechnology, SRM University, India

Professional positions held:

• Research Assistant, Tissue-implant interface Laboratory, U of KY

Professional Publications:

• Medley JM, Beane EJ, Sundararaj SC, Kaplan E, Puleo DA, Dziubla TD. Block copolymers for the rational design of self-forming postsurgical adhesion barriers. Acta Biomater. 2010 Jan;6(1):72-82.

Typed name of student on final copy

• Sharath kumar Chinnakavanam Sundararaj

